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HISTORICAL ADDRESS ON THE ONE HUNDRED YEARS•

from 1803-1902,

OF THE

History tw Pennsylvania of the Presbvterian Church
in the United States of America.

BY REV. WM. HENRY ROBERTS, D. D., LL. D.

A common prayer a century ago in the churches of Pennsylvania was, that " the Lord
would send a godly man to break unto them the bread of life, and that the wilderness might
be made to blossom as the rose." That prayer has been continuously answered in the many
ministers and missionaries who have labored in the State and the contiguous regions during
the hundred years from 1803-1902, and in the spiritual and material prosperity of both
Church and State.
In considering the history of the Synod of Pennsylvania, and the bodies of which it is

the representative, from 1803-1902, it is well to remember certain circumstances and con
ditions which preceded and which powerfully affected the course of events.
Foremost among these is to be placed the fact that the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania

was established to secure for all who might settle within its borders, religious liberty. Per
secution for religion's sake was contrary to the principles of the founder, and absolute free
dom of conscience was the law of the land. In the great majority of the other colonies a
d1fferent state of affairs prevailed. In some of them Episcopal intolerance led to the violent
repression of the religious opinions and practices of the so-called Dissenters, and in New
England, except Rhode Island, active persecution for a time limited human rights, owing
to the narrow spirit of the Congregational religious establishments. Indeed, in Massachusetts
and some other colonies, there were for a considerable time statutes punishing heiesy with
death. Within the territory of Pennsylvania, from the first, however, that religious freedom
was found and maintained which made appropriate the words inscribed twenty-five years
before 1776, upon the Liberty Bell, "Proclaim liberty throughout the land unto all the in
habitants thereof." Not in any new abode of ecclesiastical tyranny, but in a State free from
its first settlement, was the Declaration of Independence made, and the death-knell of
religious intolerance sounded. In such a friendly and harmonious environment was it that
the American Presbyterian Church was organized and attained to its full development.
Another condition affecting the history of the Presbyterian Church in Pennsylvania was

the large Scotch-Irish immigration. While English and Welsh settlers at first aided ma
terially in the development of our Church therein, the Welsh being in a majority before 1700,
the dominant element after that year was the Scotch-Irish. From that date forward a stream
of immigration set in from Scotland and the north of Ireland which largely swelled the popu
lation. Proud, in his History of Pennsylvania, estimates that from 1720 to 1750 the Scotch-
Irish immigrants alone averaged 12,000 each year. A virile and aggressive race, they quickly
made a marked impress upon the political and social fortunes of the colony, and early divided
the mastery of affairs with the Quakers. So influential were they that one writer declares
that " one-half the social fabric of this State was built up by Presbyterians," and so aggres
sive that the same writer, referring 10 trouble between the Scotch- Irish and the Quakers over
the treatment of the Indians, humorously remarks, that the Quakers

" had no hesitation in
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arming themselves and fortifying Philadelphia, for the chance of a shot at a Scotch-Irish
Presbyterian was too much for their scruples of religion." But pleasantry to one side, the
movement of the Scotch-Irish to Pennsylvania was of great and permanent value to the
Presbyterian Church, both as to numbers, character, and development. Their numbers gave
the opportunity for the full organization of the Church, and their addition to the other ele
ments determined with certainty its character. No men have been more persistent in main
taining true liberty in Church and State ; no Christians more devotedly apostolic in doctrine
and practice than those of that race, whose traditions cluster about the seige of Londonderry,
the Conventicles of the Covenanters, and the Revolution of 1776. To them American
Presbyterianism is largely indebted for its vigor, tenacity, and prosperity.
The location and material resources of the State ol Pennsylvania were also essential

factors in the progress of the Church. Occupying a position midway between the North and
the South, with a fertile soil in its eastern and central portions, with immense mineral re
sources distributed throughout its wide borders, and occupied by an energetic, intelligent,
and rapidly increasing population, it is not a matter of surprise that there should have been
during the century a material prosperity vast beyond the dreams of the most imaginative of
men. This prosperity affected decidedly, and to a large degree favorably, the growth and
•development of our Church. The growing population furnished the field of work, and the
resources provided the means for its development.
Most potent of the influences, however, affecting the history of the Pennsylvania Synods

-during the nineteenth century, was the religious awakening with which it opened, which was
of an extraordinary character, and which energized with the evangelistic spirit our own and
other denominations for a third of a century. The close of the eighteenth century had been
characterized religiously by the prevalence of irreligion and immorality throughout all classes
of society. Even during the war for independence patriots such as Washington might kneel
in prayer to God at Valley Forge, amid the snows which seemed to be the shroud of the
young Republic, but the younger men were found as a rule in the pathways of skepticism
and godlessness. The Christian churches also were under the power of the deleterious
moral influences of the time. Spiritual life was at a low ebb in them and the prospect of
progress but small. On the frontier, in particular, immorality and inf1delity were potent powers
for harm. The first signs of a favorable change were given in the revivals of religion which
prevailed in Western Pennsylvania from 1781 to 1787. From year to year thereafter, there
were signs of deep spiritual interest in that and other portions of the country. So deep was
the religious interest among all classes of the population that the churches became utterly
inadequate to accommodate the throngs which attended the preaching services. As a result,
meetings were held in the groves adjacent to church buildings. The record of one such
meeting is as follows: "On Saturday, Nov. 13, 1802, at the Upper Buffalo Church, in
the congregation of the Rev. John Anderson, so great a company gathered, that an encamp
ment was formed in a semi-circle in a shady wood. Fully ten thousand persons were
present. The exercises commenced at two o'clock, with fifteen ministers present, all mem
bers of the Synod of Pittsburg. On Sabbath morning communion was administered in
the open air to about nine hundred communicants. One of the most powerful of the dis
courses was by the Rev. Elisha McCurdy, and was long known in the region as ' McCurdy's
War Sermon.'" Hundreds of persons were brought into the Church from this single
camp meeting. From the year 1800 down to the year 1839 there was an uninterrupted
series of these celestial visitations spreading over different parts of the United States. This
great revival was an essential factor in the beginning of the momentous Christian advance of
the nineteenth century. It led the way to a fuller missionary organization, to more adequate
educational provision, and to more earnest evangelistic work upon the part of the Christians of
our country, and nowhere were its effects more marked than in the region and State in which
it originated. The religious history of Western Pennsylvania —yea, of the whole State— is the
witness that thoroughgoing Calvinism is of necessity a thoroughgoing evangelicalism. The
doctrines of grace vitally believed in, compel the preaching of the Gospel to every creature.
These conditions and circumstances were powerful in determining the nature of the

history of the last one hundred years of our Church in Pennsylvania.

The Synods.

In dealing with this history, the Synodical organizations existing from time to time, and
now merged in the existing Synod of Pennsylvania, are first considered.

I
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In the year 1803, our Synod had as its ecclesiastical ancestors the Synod of Philadel
phia, erected by the General Synod in 1788, and the Synod of Pittsburgh, erected out of
the Synod of Virginia, by the General Assembly, in 1802. These two Synods, with vary
ing boundaries, continued their existence until 1881. The New School Synods of Pennsyl
vania and West Pennsylvania were established in 1840 and 1843 respectively, as a result of
the division of the Church into its Old and New School Branches. In 1854, the Synod of
Allegheny, O. S., was constituted, which existed until 1870. At Reunion, the Synods of
Erie and Ilarrisburg were erected, and in 1881 these two, along with the Synods of Phila
delphia and Pittsburgh, were consolidated into the Synod of Pennsylvania. The following
Presbyteries in 1870, either in their entirety or in part, were transferred to or absoibed by
the Pennsylvania Synods; from the Synod of Baltimore, the Presbytery of Carlisle; from
the Synod of Wheeling, the Presbyteries of Washington and West Virginia; from the Synod
of New Jersey, the Presbyteries of Luzerne, Susquehanna, and a few churches of the Pies
bytery of Newton ; from the Synod of New York and New Jersey, the Presbytery of Mont
rose. By these several acts the Synods became, in large part, coterminous with the bounds
of the State of Pennsylvania. But it is to be remembered that the Synods, which find their
legal representative in this Synod, and our Synod itself, were never confined within the boun
daries even of the great Keystone Commonwealth. There have been in ecclesiastical con
nection therewith, the foreign Presbyteries of Shanghai, Western Africa, City of Mexico, Gulf
of Mexico and Zacatecas, and home Presbyteries now in the Synods of Baltimore, New Jersey,
and Ohio. At its largest extent, the territory of this Synod extended from Africa on the
east to China on the west, and on the south included the Republic of Mexico. It now in
cludes Western Africa and the States of Pennsylvania and West Virginia. The Presbyterian
Church in this State has always been an expansive Church, ready for and quick to use all
opportunities for Christian service.

Statistics.

We next consider the statistics of growth and benevolence. In connection with these
it is necessary to draw attention to the fact that they are incomplete for the first decade,
from 1803-12, as many as nine out of twenty-nine Presbyteries failing to report in a
single year. Further, in the year 1803, the only statistics reported were for ministers, licen
tiates and churches. The first report of communicants given is in 1807, but is probably
30 per cent- too small, for twelve out of twenty-nine Presbyteries made no return. Con
tributions to Home Missions are given for the first in 1807, and contributions to Education
and Foreign Missions make their appearance in the years 1825 and 1839 respectively. It
is likewise to be understood that these statistics represent both less and more than the actual
growth in numbers and contributions of the Presbyterian churches of Pennsylvania. They
represent less up to 1882, because, as already indicated, the northeastern section of Pennsyl
vania was not included within any Synod legally represented by the present Synod. They
represent more liecause the Synod, as likewise already stated, hes included and includes
within its jurisdiction a large number of churches outside the State. In a general way it is
true that the one account balances the other. These statistics have been carefully compiled
from the reports in the Minutes of the General Assembly for each year, and also for each
Synod. The tables are printed at the end of this discourse.
Examination of the tables shows that comparing the years 1803 and 1902, as to growth

in numbers, we find that the 9 Presbyteries of 1803 have increased to 22 in 1902; that the
116 ministers of the first year named have become 1146 in the last year ; and that the
churches have increased from 200 to 1102 during the century. The ministerial force, it is to
be noticed, has not increased in comparison with the increase in population of the States of
Pennsylvania and West Virginia. In 1803 the population of the territory occupied by both
was in the neighlxtrhood of 700,000, and this year is estimated at 7,500,0°o, °f whom
6,500,000 are in Pennsylvania. The proportion of Presbyterian ministers to population in

1803 was l to 6034 of the population, and in 1902 is I to 6544. There is here a falling off
which needs attention.
The totals of the statistics of church members for the one hundred years are as follows :—

Communicants added on examination

Adult baptisms
Infant baptisms

464,075
116,697

338,430
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Again, in 1807, the communicants in 17 of the 29 Presbyteries were reported as being
9794- The correct figures would probably have brought the total up to 13,000. The total
ol communicants for 1902 was 224,343. Comparing the statistics for the period from 1803
to 1870 with the period from 1871 to 1902, that is

,

comparing the first sixty-eight of the one
hundred years with the thirty-two last years, we find that during the second period 361,407
persons were added on examination as against 102,668 added during the first period, an
excess for the second period against the first of 258,739. Again, during the period 1S71-
1902, the total of persons received on confession for the entire Church was 1,481,325, of
whom the congregations of this Synod received over 24 per cent.
The total contributions reported for all purposes by the churches of the Synod for the

ninety-six years, 1807-1902, were as follows:—

To Home Missions §6,204,174 00
" Foreign Missions 5,692,840 00
'' Education 2,145,003 00
" Sabbath-school Work 934,641 00
" Church Erection 1,712,424 00
" the Relief Fund • 1,024,573 00
" Freedmen 977,478 00
" Synodical Aid 467,610 00
" Aid for Colleges 6 1 7,305 00
" Ecclesiastical Expenses 515.679 00" Congregational Expenses 68,237,646 00
" Miscellaneous Charities 8,421,098 00

Total $96,950,471 00

Comparing the first year of reports with the last >ear, the missionary and benevolent
contributions in 1807 for 17 Presbyteries out of 29 were $2157, and in 1902 $1,200,080.
"The per capila in 1807 for such gifts was 22 cents for each communicant, and in 1902
$5-33- The total contributions for the Boards and Committees for the century were
$27,826,471. The contributions to congregational expenses were not re)X)1ted in 1807, and
were in 1902 $2,801,646, a per capila of S12.48.
Comparing the contributions for the first two-thirds with the last third of the century,

it appears that during the sixty-four years, 1807-1870, $1,263,618 were given to Home
Missions as against $4,940,556 during the last thirty-two years, and $805,398 to Foreign
Missions as against $4,887,342. The totals of contributions to the Boards and Committt1s
from 1871 to 1902 were $22,309,534, or 32 per cent- of the total gifts ($68,396,012) for
the same objects by the entire Church. Omitting comparisons as to other objects, the totals
of contributions for the two periods are, from 1807 to 1870, $16,481,545; from 187 1 to 1902
$80,468,926, or an excess for the last third of the century as against the first two-thirds, of
$63,987-381. While, however, there is a great advance in the bulk of the contributions for
the entire century, the advance is not what might naturally be expected since 1870, the year
of Reunion. In 187 1 the 104,412 communicants of the Synod contributed $552,851 to mis
sions and benevolence, or $5.29 per capila, while in 1901, 222,794 communicants gave to
the same objects $944,831, or S4.28 per capila, a decrease per capila of St.oi. In 1902,
under the stimulus of the Twentieth Century Movement, the 224,343 communicants in

creased their gifts to $1,200,020, or $5.34 per capila, just 5 cents per capila over 187 1. The
wealth of the region connected with the Synod, however, has increased since 187 1 from
$3,990,000,000 to over $8,000,000,000. Of this vast increase our Church agencies have
not received their due share. Our !tenevolence is practically at a standstill. No attempt is

made to account for this condition of affairs. It suffices to endeavor to stimulate mind and
heart towards better things, by the fact that during the period of division, 1838-1869, the
Old and New School Branches of the Church, while doubling their membership, far more
than doubled their gifts to missions and benevolence. What is chiefly needed to day is the
old enthusiasm with the deep convictions out of which it sprang.

Edication.

Passing from stetistics, let us consider certain general features of the history ol the Pres

byterian Church for the century, in this part of the country, beginning with education.
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Two of the fundamental doctrines of Calvinism are, that the human soul should be in
direct communication with God, and that God has revealed His will to man in the Holy
Scriptures. These doctrines naturally tend towards effort after an endeavor to diffuse
knowledge. One of the great facts in American history is that the Calvinistic churches
were the sources from which sprang all the early colleges, and, in addition, our public school
system of education. In the history of this Synod, educational effort was put forth from the
first settlement, the main purpose being to secure a learned ministry. Our Church has
never believed in being instructed either by sanctified ignorance or unsanctified learning. It
has always endeavored to safeguard the truth of God, both in the pulpit and the pew. During
the century we consider, Jefferson College was chartered in 1802, growing out of an academy
established at Canonsburg in l79l,and Washington College sprang out of a school organized
in 1787. With these and other institutions the names of John McMillan, John Watson,
Thaddeus Dod, and Matthew Brown will ever be associated and deeply reverenced. Wash-

„ ington and Jefferson Colleges were united in 1865, and the joint institution has prospered
from year to year under the leadership of able and distinguished presidents.
It is worthy of note that at the beginning of the nineteenth century the University of

Pennsylvania was under Presbyterian influence, its provost being the Rev. John Ewing,
D. D., and that Dickinson College, at Carlisle, was also under the virtual control of our de
nomination. In these institutions our Church, however, at present is not dominant A par
tial reason for this state of affairs has been the interest of Pennsylvania Presbyterians in
Princeton University, an institution which has a vital relation to the Presbyterian Church,
and which gave to Western Pennsylvania, at the close of the eighteenth century, such men as

James Power, John McMillan, Thaddeus Dod, and John Watson. To Princeton College
this Synod gave in 1812, as president, one of the greatest of its ministers, the Rev. Ashbel
Green, D. D. It was Dr. Green, further, who brought clearly to the consciousness of the
Church the need of a theological seminary, in order to secure adequate preparation for the
ministry. Some provision, of course, had been already made, as appears from the fact
that of the twenty-eight ministers first connected with the Presbytery of Erie, twenty-three
had been educated under John McMillan. But more than such a school as McMillan's was
necessary for the full preparation of candidates for the Gospel ministry. The Overture of
Dr. Green, in 1805, to the General Assembly, was followed by a suggestion made by another
Pennsylvania minister, Dr. Archibald Alexander, then of Philadelphia, who in his sermon
in 1808, as retiring Moderator, drew attention to the Church's need in this respect, ancl es a
result the movement began which led to the founding of Princeton Theological Seminary,
which, though outside the bounds of the Synod, has contributed largely to the effectiveness
of its ministry. About 1825 another movement in the interests of theological educetion
began in Western Pennsylvania, which resulted in the establishment of the Western Theo
logical Seminary at Allegheny, under the leadership of such men as Rev. Drs. Francis
Herron, E. P. Swift, and George Hill. The history of this eminent school of the prophets
is written in the record of the earnest, faithful, and successful lives of its officers, instructors,
and alumni.
Yet another educational institution connected with the Synod is Lafayette College,

founded in 1866, served by such men as the Rev. Drs. George Junkin and William C. Cat-
tell, and highly successful in all its work. In 1854 the friends of the colored people estab
lished the Ashmun Institute, for the education of ministers for that race. This institution in
1866 was chartered as Lincoln University, and has rendered great services both to the
Church and to the country.
While caring for the education of young men, the Chuich in Pennsylvania has also given

attention to the education of women, and founded in 1869, at Chambersburg, Pa., Wilson
College, and at Pittsburgh, Pa., in the same year, the Pennsylvania College for Women. Both
these institutions are based upon the principle that " the hope of the Church is the home,
and the hope of the home is the mother."
The crown of the work of the Church in educational matters, however, was the estab

lishment in 1S19 of the Board of Education, whose first presidents were Pennsylvanians,
which has always had its headquarters at Philadelphia, which has rendered very valuable ser
vice to the Church, and is worthy of far greater financial and moral support than it receives.
This Board has sustained in the work of preparation for the ministry of the Gospel, many of
the greatest and most successful ministers our Church has known during the nineteenth cen
tury, and has also enabled the Church to place numerous workers in the fields white unto
harvest.
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Missions.

The missionary movements originating in or influencing our Pennsylvania Synods con
stitute a topic worthy of engrossing thought.
The great revival of 1800 paved the way for large missionary advance in those home

and foreign lines of Christian effort which we1e the distinctive features of the nineteenth cen
tury. It is an error to state, as some do, that there was no missionary spirit and work in
the American Church prior to the year 1800. Missions to the Indian inhabitants of the
American Colonies were inaugurated by the General Synod about the middle of the
eighteenth century, and efforts for the preaching of the Gospel among the destitute popula
tions on the frontier began at an equally early date. George Duffield and Charles Beatty
preached in what is now Ohio in 1766, and Archibald Alexander in 1792. The Presby
terian has always been a missionary church, but the degree of its manifestation of the mis
sionary spirit has varied from time to time, chiefly in proportion to the prevalence of a re
vival spirit in its midst. It was a revival under Whitefield and the Tennents which pro
voked the Church to the good work of missions at the middle of the eighteenth century, and
the great revival of 1800 was a potent stimulus in the same line. Quickened at home, it
was but natural that Christian earnestness should turn its energies in the direction of work
in foreign lands, as well as in the United States. This fact is evident from what took place
in the Synod of Pittsburgh, at its first meeting. On the second day of the session of Synod
a committee, consisting of the Rev. Messrs. Hughes, McCurdy, Badger and Edgar (honored
names), was appointed to digest a plan for the transaction of missionary business. The re
port of the Committee as adopted contained among other things the following resolutions:
" 1. The Synod of Pittsburgh shall be styled the Western Missionary Society.
"2. The object of the Missionary Society is to diffuse the knowledge of the Gospel

among the inhabitants of the new settlements, the Indian tribes, and if need be, among
some of the interior inhabitants, where they are not able to support the Gospel."
This action of the Synod was part of a general movement in the whole Church. On

May 31st, 1802, the General Assembly, realizing the needs of the country, had placed the
general missionary work in charge of a Standing Committee of Missions, with Rev. Ashbel
Green, D. D., of Philadelphia, as chairman, which developed in 1816 into the Board of
Missions, and later into the Board of Home Missions. The Synodical work from 1802 was
carried forward successfully, and the missionary spirit developed to that extent that in 1831
the Synod, " trusting in the aid and guidance of the God of missions," deemed it expedient
to establish a Society or Board of Aid for Foreign Missions, thus dividing the work which
up to that time had been conducted as a single agency. The objects of the society were
" to aid in fulfilling the last great command of the glorif1ed Redeemer, by conveying the
Gospel to whatever parts of the heathen and anti-Christian world the Providence of God
may enable this society to extend its evangelical exertions."

This society, known as the Western Foreign Missionary Society, was merged in 1837
into the Presbyterian Board of Foreign Missions, whose first secretary was the Hon. Walter
Lowrie, who had been United States Senator from Pennsylvania, and who resigned an im
portant Government office to serve the Church of his fathers. His spirit, most commendable,
was shared by many of the Presbyterians of this State, and as a result they supported
heartily the work of missions during the entire period of the division of the Church and
thereafter, gave liberally of their resources, and, above all, gave their sons and daughters to
the supreme endeavor of earth and heaven. The record of the missionaries of Pennsylvania,
both men and women, is the record of high devotion, heroic courage, and large and enduring
results for time and eternity.

The ministers and churches of the Pennsylvania Synods were also in the front rank in
the work of colored evangelization. When the Old School General Assembly met at Pitts
burgh in 1865, and appointed a committee for establishing schools, churches, and the
preaching of the Gospel among the Freedmen, only ministers and elders from Western
Pennsylvania would agree to undertake the work. For a considerable time thereafter this
region was the only one in thorough moral and financial sympathy with the work entrusted
to the Committee, afterward the Board of Missions for Freedmen. Western Pennsylvania
deserves high honor for the missionary work accomplished through this Board in the south-
em part of our country.
Yet another missionary achievement in this Synod was the organization in 1870 of the
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Woman's Foreign Missionary Society in the city of Philadelphia. This was the first of the
woman's missionary organizations of our Church. The success which has attended the
work of these societies, and likewise of the various young people's societies, is a matter of
sincere congratulation to the Church at large. There is a demand in these opening years of
the twentieth century for gifts and work and workers above all preceding years, and the
various women's, young people's and young men's organizations are but the natural out

come of the intense Christian life now everywhere manifest.
One notable event of the missionary history of the Synod was the erection, last year, of

the independent Presbyterian Synod of Mexico, on July 8th, at the city of Mexico. Three
of the four Presbyteries constituting the body were in connection with our Synod, and con
tributed to it 39 ministers, 73 churches, and 4506 communicants. The ministers and elders
of this new Church, the first national Presbyterian Church organized in the twentieth cen
tury, sends to us fraternal greetings, and assures us that it is " their purpose and desire to
maintain the honor of God's word, to proclaim the truth as it is in Jesus, and to remain
steadfast to Presbyterian faith aud doctrine in the carrying forward of the work of the evan
gelization of Mexico."

Disruption.
«

No history is complete that fails to take cognizance of controversies. It was within
the bounds of this Synod that certain of the powerful forces which brought about the
disruption of our denomination in 1838 made their most notable manifestations. Doc
trinal differences aroused debate in the eastern portion of Pennsylvania as early as 1830.
Certain ministers were put on trial for alleged departures from the Confession of Faith. One
was the Rev. Dr. George Duffield, of the Presbytery of Carlisle, and another, the Rev.
Albert Barnes, of the Presbytery of Philadelphia. Dr. George Junkin, President of Lafayette
College, was the principal antagonist of Mr. Barnes. All the ministers engaged in these
controversies were men of unblemished character, of unquestioned scholarship, and of large
ability. The questions at issue appear to many of us to have involved methods of state
ment of confessional doctrine rather than actual and serious departures from the fundamentals
of the Calvinistic system. That here and there through the Church grievous errors were held
and taught is true, and this fact gave ground for uneasiness on the part of conservative men ;
but Presbyterians, as a rule, have not divided upon doctrinal issues. The disruption in Scot
land in 1844, for instance, was over the practical question of the power of the patron of a
parish to place a minister in charge of the same contrary to the wishes of the congregation.
It was a struggle against what was called patronage. One of the principal influences which
keeps our esteemed United Presbyterian brethren in a separate denomination is one con
nected, not with the Confession of Faith, but with the use of hymns in church worship.
And in harmony with this trend, the real wedges of division in our Church, in 1838, were
questions of administrative policy and ecclesiastical procedure. The plan of union with the
Congregational churches was one wedge, and another, and the most potent wedge, was
the question as between interdenominational and denominational boards for church work.
Our foreign mission enterprises had been carried on in large part, during the first third of
the nineteenth century, in connection with the American Board of Commissioners for Foreign
Missions at Boston, and the organizations known' as the American Missionary Society and the
American Education Society, virtually under the control of the Congregational churches,
were the recipients of a considerable part of the home mission and educational offerings of
our churches. To these " voluntary " societies, as they were called, opposition arose in the
Church about 1825, and increased in power until 1831, when the Western Foreign Mis
sionary Society was organized by the Synod of Pittsburgh, and became the rallying centre
for those Presbyterians who believed in the control of Presbyterian Church work by denom
inational boards. By these two wedges, the plan of union and the voluntary societies, the
Church was divided. The General Assembly of 1837 rescinded the plan of union and
established the Board of Foreign Missions, and in 1838, the year of division, the Old School
Assembly established the Board of Publication.
Into the details of the events connected with the disruption ot the Church in 1838 it is

needless to enter, but this much must be said, that while what was known as the New
School Branch of the Church at f1rst sustained voluntary societies and endeavored to work in
co-operation with the Congregational churches, nevertheless, after a few years, these brethren
found themselves compelled, Presbyterians as they were, to organize their own committees
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and boards. In •1852 the Congregational churches themselves terminated the plan of
union, and in 1853 the Committee on Church Extension was constituted by the New School
Assembly. This was followed in 1857 by the erection of the Committee on Publication,
and in 1861 by the organization of the Presbyterian Committee of Home Missions. By these
acts the New School Church came to the same ground in relation to voluntary societies as
the Old School Church, and the acts further brought inevitably the reunion of 1869. Sub
stantially one in doctrine, and after years of conflict one in administrative policy, the two
branches of our Church naturally became again one in this city of Pittsburgh, on November
14th, 1869, and the first General Assembly of the reunited Church met in Philadelphia, in
May, 1870. Somehow great events in our denominational history seem inseparable from
the soil of Pennsylvania, and to Western Pennsylvania in particular belongs the credit for
the vindication of the principle, that a denomination to be truly successful, and to be fully in
line with its own mission in the world, must manage its affairs through agencies under its
own control.

With reference to the period of division in the Church, it is further to be noted that
after a few years the injurious effects of separation disappeared, as is shown by the statistics.
By 1847, the Synod of Philadelphia had recovered all its losses in numbers, and by 1853
had decidedly increased its benevolent contributions. The Synod of Pittsburgh had only a
slight decrease either in members or gifts for the first year or two of the division, and an ap
parent decrease in 1842 was due to the erection of the Synod of Wheeling. A careful study
of the events and the statistics of the whole period from 1838 to 1870 leads to the conclusion
that when the first bitterness of strife had passed away a friendly rivalry set in between the
two branches, for all the Pennsylvania Synods, both Old and New School, made decided ad
vances in membership and benevolence during their separate existence. The controversial
division became within a decade after 1837, that division of labor which produces thorough
work and great results.
There are many matters of historic interest which are worthy of consideration at length,

and many which should have at least brief reference made to them, but the limitations oi

space and time are upon the speaker. Attention, however, is drawn to the following.
The prominence of the Pennsylvania Synods in Church affairs, a prominence in part

due to congenial environment, but far more to the blessing of God, is shown for one thing by
the fact that 77 out of 146 General Assemblies have held their meetings within the State,
and that 24 Assembly Moderators at the time of service were in our ecclesiastical connection.
Pennsylvania Presbyterians also have been among the foremost in active support of the

organized missionary and benevolent work of the Church. Until Reunion, in 1870, the Board
of Domestic Missions, established in 1816, was located at Philadelphia. The forces which
founded the Presbyterian Board of Foreign Missions, as we have seen, gathered headway and
power in large part in Western Pennsylvania. In Philadelphia have always been found those
three most valuable agencies of the Church, the Board of Education, established in 1819 ;
the Board of Publication and Sabbath School Work, erected in 1838; and the Board of Relief
for Disabled Ministers, constituted in 1849. The Board of Missions for Freedmen and the
Permanent Committee on Temperance are located at Pittsburgh. Five of the nine permanent
agencies of the Church, therefore, have their headquarters within the bounds of this Synod.
Further, within the borders of this Synod are found the two centres of population in
which the Presbyterians are strongest in numbers in relation to the population, Philadelphia
having 54,503 communicants, 44,454 of whom are in our denomination, and Pittsburgh and
Allegheny having 30,253 communicants, of whom 16,736 are in our connection. The
Presbyterian percentage to population for Philadelphia is 4.2, and for Pittsburgh and Alle
gheny 6.7 per cent. The similar proportion for Chicago is about I per cent., and from
that rises for other cities to 3.8 per cent- for New York and Brooklyn.
The Synod is also prominent because it has a constituency containing the largest body

of communicants in connection with any subordinate ecclesiastical judicatory in the world.
It is in the same class as to numbers with the General Assemblies of the Southern, Cumber-
and, and Canadian Presbyterian Churches, and the General Synod of the German Reformed
Church. Its membership is greater than that of the British Presbyterian Churches, with the

exception of the Scotch Establishment and the United Free Church.
The only scheme of ministerial sustentation for our entire denomination which the

General Assembly has attempted, was located at Pittsburgh, Pa., from 1871-73, with Rev.
Melanchthon W. Jacobus, D. D., as Secretary. The Synod's present work of Home Missions



and Sustentation has been to a large degree successful, and it may be that it will one of
these days stimulate the adoption of a general scheme which shall successfully solve the
difficult problem of the supply of weak churches and the adequate support of the ministry.
Hospitals and other charitable institutions have been a natural outgrowth of the benefi

cent life of our Church, and most interesting would it be to show how Pennsylvania has led
in this work, both in civil and religious lines.
The loyalty of the ministers and churches of this Synod to Calvinistic doctrine and the

Presbyterian polity has been notable in all the years of the existence of our Church, and
especially during the past one hundred years. This was true both of Old and New Schools,
for when they united, in 1869, it was on the basis of the standards, pure and simple. Our
Presbyterian principles as set forth in the constitution of the Church drew to their support
all parties. Our Confession never has been and is not now a source of division, but a bond
of union.
The evangelistic work at present in progress in our Church, which originated in and is

largely sustained by the zeal of Pennsylvania elders, is but another indication of the spiritual
forces ever at work in our ecclesiastical body, and needing only guidance and opportunity to
produce great results for the good of man and the glory of God.
There has been during the century a decided advance within our bounds and in the

country at large in moral conditions. Vice still rules in too many lives, but virtue manifests
itself in all our communities with increasing power. There has been also a general religious
uplift. More men and women than ever, who are outside the Church, cherish respect for
the Christian religion, and are under the restraints of its standards of conduct. The
Church, itself, likewise is more generally interested than formerly in the various enterprises
which are the natural outcome of a practical Gospel, and more in earnest in the work of the
salvation of the world. These results have been secured by the earnest labor of many
Christian ministers, and the faithful services of numerous ruling elders, deacons, and trustees
of our congregations, earnest officers and teachers of our Sabbath schools, devoted women
and energetic young people, a multitude of workers not needing to be ashamed, without
whom the Church would have accomplished but little. All honor to the many unnamed
laborers, who, in quiet fields of work, have wrought or are working for Christ with patience,
courage, and faith, sustained by His love, and by the hopes of which He is the source.
The history we have concisely considered is a history of great services to mankind,

rendered in the name and for the sake of Jesus Christ. For its honorable record lasting
thanks are due the Triune God. It is the history of a free church in a free state, of an
evangelistic church located in the midst of an enterprising and growing nation, and of a
missionary church among a people steadily advancing towards a world empire. Its events
evidence the love of Jesus to have been the controlling force of all that has been accom
plished. The same power is the only source of future as of past success. The love of
Christ alone can overcome the inward tendencies to evil to which human nature is subject, in
particular the love of self. Let us then as Christians seek more and more to make the key
note of our lives the motto of Zinzendorf, " I have but one passion ; it is He."
Let His dear love stimulate within us that love for the world which shall give us to

follow the fathers even as they followed Christ, striving even unto blood for the salvation of
souls.

Let His love give us also to labor with the courage bom of the hope which is as an
anchor entering within the veil. Our labor will not be in vain in the Lord ! One glad future
day He shall triumph over all evil and rule over a redeemed humanity and a purif1ed world.
One victory which He has won is the promise and potency of yet other victories. When He
walked this earth, few were His followers, and all about Him were the idolatrous millions of
paganism. The known world that then was, worshipped the false gods of Rome, of Kgypt,
and of Syria. Where to-day are the temples of Jupiter, or Osiris, or Baal ! Where are there
any of human kind who offer them worship ! The Galilean has conquered ! The gods of
the ancient Roman world have fled before His Cross, their altars are in ruins, and their
votaries have perished from the face of the earth. Completely has Jesus triumphed over the
idolatries which confronted Him as the suffering Saviour. Inspired by that victory may we
with all His people fight the good fight of faith with vigor and courage, assured that one day
every tongue shall confess and every knee shall bow unto Jesus Christ as Lord of all.
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LIST OF THE PRESBYTERIES CONNECTED WITH THE PENNSYL
VANIA SYNODS FROM 1803-1902.

Note.— The years after the Presbyteries indicate the length of time they were connected
with the Synods whose names appear in the next column.

Presbvters'. T1me. Svnod.

Allegheny 1820-1854 .... Pittsburgh.
" 1854-1870 .... Allegheny.
■« 1870-1881 .... Erie.
" 188 1- .... Pennsylvania.

Allegheny City 1853-1854 .... Pittsburgh." " 1854-1870 .... Allegheny.
Baltimore j |f^jf|| } .... Philadelphia.
Beaver (see Hartford) 1833-1854 .... Pittsburgh."

1854-1870 .... Allegheny.
Blairsville 1830-1881 .... Pittsburgh." 1881- .... Pennsylvania.
Butler 1870-1881 .... Erie.
" 1881- .... Pennsylvania.
Carlisle 1803-1854 .... Philadelphia." 1870-1881 .... Harrisburg.
*' 188 1- .... Pennsylvania.

Chester 1870-1881 .... Philadelphia.
" 188 1- .... Pennsylvania.
Clarion 1841-1870 .... Pittsburgh."

1870-1881 .... Erie.
" 188 1— .... Pennsylvania.
District of Columbia j }

.... Philadelphia.
" " N. S 1860-1870 .... Pennsylvania, N. S.

Donegal 1842- 1870 .... Philadelphia.
Eastern Shore 1850-1855 .... Philadelphia.
Erie 1803-1854 .... Pittsburgh."

1854-1870 .... Allegheny. '" 1870-1881 .... Erie.
" 1881- .... Pennsylvania.
" N. S 1839-1843 .... Pennsylvania, N. S.

1843- 1870 .... Western Pa., N. S.
Grand River 18 14- 1825 .... Pittsburgh.
Gulf of Mexico 1896-1901 .... Pennsylvania.
Harrisburg 1839-1870 .... Pennsylvania, N. S.
Hartford (see Beaver) 1808-1833 .... Pittsburgh.
Huntingdon 1803-1870 . . Philadelphia.
"

1870-1881 . . . Harrisburg.
" 1881- .... Pennsylvania.

Huron 1823-1825 ... Pittsburgh.
Kittanning 1870-1881 .... Erie.
" 188 1- .... Pennsylvania.

Lackawanna 1870-1881 .... Philadelphia.
" 188 1- .... Pennsylvania.

Lancaster 1808-1815 ... Pittsburgh.
Lehigh 1870-1881 .... Philadelphia.
" 1881- .... Pennsylvania.

(1803-18121
Lewes i 1825-1834 \ .... Philadelphia.

(.1836-1 839 J
" N. S 1839-1849 .... Pennsylvania, N. S.



Presbvterv.
Meadville . . .
Mexico ....
New Castle . .
New Lisbon . .
Northumberland

rr

rf

Ohio
Parkersburg . .
Philadelphia .

Philadelphia Second

" Second (Synodical ) . .
Third
" N. S

'' Fourth
Central

iI rt

" North

Pittsburgh . . .
it

M

. N.'S.
rr ir

Portage
Redstone . . . .
rr

Saltsburg . . . .
St. Qairsville . .
Shanghai . . . .

Shenango . . . .
rr

Steubenville . . .
Washington . . .
u

Wellsboro . . . .
rt

Western Africa . .
ii rr

West Jersey . . .
Westminster . . .

West Virginia . .
U 1I

Wilmington . . .
Wilmington, N. S.
Zacatecas . . . .

T1me. Svnod.

1843-1870 . . . Western Pa., N. S.
1885-1901 . . . Pennsylvania.

1803-1870 . . . Philadelphia.

1838-1841 . . . Pittsburgh.
1811-1870 . . . Philadelphia.
1870-1881 . . . Harrisburg.
1881- . . . Pennsylvania.

1803-1863 . . . Pittsburgh.
1891- . . Pennsylvania.

1803-1881 . . . Philadelphia.
1881- . . . Pennsylvania.

1824-1825 )
1832-1834 \ . . . . Philadelphia.
1836-1870 )
1834-1836 . . . Philadelphia.

1836-1838 . . Philadelphia.

1839-1870 . . . Pennsylvania, N. S.

1846-1870 . . . Pennsylvania, N. S.
1861-1881 . . . Philadelphia.

1881-1892 . . . Pennsylvania.

1870-1881 . . . Philadelphia.
1881- . . . Pennsylvania.

1869-1870 . . . Allegheny.
1870-1881 . . . Pittsburgh.
1881- . . . Pennsylvania.

1839-1843 . . . Pennsylvania, N. S.
1843-1870 . . . Western Pa., N. S.
1818-1825 . . . Pittsburgh.

1803-188 I . . . Pittsburgh.
1881- . . . Pennsylvania.

1856-1863 . . . Pittsburgh.

1838-1841 . . . Pittsburgh.

1864-1870 . . Philadelphia.
1870-1881 . . . Erie.
1881- . . . Pennsylvania.

1818-1841 . . . Pittsburgh.

1819-1841 . . . Pittsburgh.
1881- . . . Pennsylvania.

1870-1881 . . . Harrisburg.
1881- . . . Pennsylvania.

1870-1881 . . . Philadelphia.
1881- . . . Pennsylvania.

1839-1844 . . •. Philadelphia.

1870-1881 . . . Philadelphia.
1881- . . . Pennsylvania.

1870-1881 . . . Pittsburgh.

1881-1891 . . . Pennsylvania.

1836-1839 . . . Philadelphia.
I 839- I 870 . . . Pennsylvania, N. S.

1883-1901 . . Pennsylvania.
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